Nos. 21-CV-665 & 21-CV-666



Clerk of the Court DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS Received 07/28/2022 12:01 AM

Resubmitted 08/04/2022 06:47 PM Resubmitted 08/05/2022 01:03 PM

HENRIETTA CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, et al.,

Appellants/Cross-Appellees,

v.

S2 U STREET, LLC,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant,

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division No. 2020 CAR 3007

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ray M. Aragon (No. 41822)*
Press, Dozier & Hamelburg, LLC
7910 Woodmont Avenue, Suite 1350
Bethesda, Maryland 20814
Phone (301) 913-5200
Fax (301) 913-5205
raragon@pressdozierlaw.com

STATEMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 28(A)(2)(A)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The Litigants. In 1984, Plaintiff Lester Reese purchased a property and improvements located at 350 U Street, Northeast, in Washington, DC (the "Reese Property"). Reese Aff. in Support of Summary Judgment ¶¶ 2-3 (A044). Plaintiff Reese continuously owned the Reese Property until 2021. *Id.* ¶3 (A044).

Appellants Henrietta Condominium Association and its members Nancy Montoya, Melissa Haupt, Belkines Arenas Germosen, Victoria Flattau, and Pamela Flattau, own the real property and improvements located at 2002 4th St., Northeast (the "Henrietta Property"), which is adjacent to the Reese Property. Henrietta Association RFA Responses, Answers 6-12. (A050-A051).

2. The Alleged Encroachment. Although Plaintiff Reese had owned the Reese Property for nearly 37 years when he brought this action, he admits that from 1984 until 2020, a period of 36 years, he was not aware of any encroachment. Reese Aff. ¶¶ 2-3 (A044,A045). Reese acknowledges he only became aware of the property encroachment about which he complains in 2020, at least 11 years after the prior owners of the Henrietta Property constructed a concrete driving pad and built a segregating fence on the "Disputed Area." Reese Aff. ¶¶ 6-7, 9 (A045). Mr. Reese further claims that in May 2020, a survey demonstrated that the

Henrietta Appellants "constructed structures and improvements approximately 23.18 feet south of the [Henrietta] Property line onto the [Reese] Property," and that these structures and improvements included a concrete driving pad, a short masonry walls, a chain-link fence, and a wooden fence." Reese Aff. ¶ 9 (A045). As such, Plaintiff acknowledges that he was entirely unaware, and thus accepted, the encroachment of the Henrietta Appellants and their predecessors for at least 36 continuous years.

- 3. <u>Trial Court Litigation</u>. This litigation followed, with Plaintiff asserting five causes of action, including Action to Quiet Title, Ejectment, Declaratory Judgment, and Trespass and Injunctive Relief. Complaint Dkt. 1 (A004). In their Answer and Counterclaim, the Henrietta Appellants asserted counterclaims for Adverse Possession, Prescriptive Easement, and Declaratory Judgment. Answer and Counterclaims, Dkt. 9 (A005).
- 4. <u>Plaintiff's First Motion for Summary Judgment</u>. Following discovery, Plaintiff Reese filed a motion for summary judgment, asserting that as a matter of law there was no evidence before the trial court that, even perceived in a light favorable to the Henrietta Appellants, could establish any of the elements of adverse possession. Summary Judgment Motion at 4-5. (A025-A026).

Notwithstanding the clear legal standard for summary judgment, *i.e.*, that judgment without hearing or trial is only appropriate when "the pleadings,

depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law," see D.C. Super. Ct. R. Civ. P. 56(c) ("Rule"), Plaintiff repeatedly misstated this standard. In his Summary Judgment Motion, Plaintiff claimed entitlement to judgment without trial or hearing regarding the Henrietta Appellants' defenses of adverse possession and prescriptive easement because "Defendants cannot prevail on any claim of adverse possession." Summary Judgment Motion at 4 (emphasis supplied). (A025). Plaintiff repeatedly claimed entitlement to judgment because "Defendants cannot establish the requisite criteria" for adverse possession, essentially arguing that because the Henrietta Appellants cannot *prove* entitlement to judgment prior to trial or hearing, Plaintiff was entitled to judgment. Id. 1 In making such arguments, Plaintiff Reese either forgot or ignored that in considering whether to grant or deny a summary judgment motion, a court "must view the record in the light most favorable to the party who opposes summary judgment and thus resolve any doubts as to the existence of a factual dispute against the moving party."

_

¹ Plaintiff Reese further claimed entitlement to judgment, claiming the Henrietta Defendants "cannot establish continuous use of the Area in Dispute," *id.* at 5, (A026), nor "prove exclusive possession," *id.*, nor "establish that they, in fact, have adversely possessed the Area in Dispute and any portion of the Subject Property," *id.* at 6, (A027). The resolution of such disputed matters of proof are of course the province of a jury, and are not to be addressed by a court on summary judgment.

O'Malley v. Chevy Chase Bank, FSB, 766 A.2d 964, 967 (D.C. 2001) (emphasis added).

These misstatements of law and of fact continued in the alleged facts Plaintiff asked the Court to accept as undisputed. In its Statement of Undisputed Facts, Plaintiff Reese asked the trial court to accept as undisputed many crucial facts that the Plaintiff provided no proof for, and which the Henrietta Defendants did not admit. In supporting its Motion for summary judgment, Plaintiff Reese asked the trial court to accept as "undisputed" literally scores of alleged facts that the Henrietta Defendants had not admitted to at all. Requests for Admission Nos. 15, 16, 18, 19, 70, 20, 69, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 39, 40, 41, 71, 42, 43, 44, 45, 72, 73, 46, 47, 99, 100, 49, 50, 52, 53, 54, 97, 96 were all cited to the trial court as supporting undisputed statements of fact, when in reality the Henrietta Appellants did not admit any of these alleged facts, instead stating that they were unable to admit or deny those facts. RFA Answers. (A048).

This is a serious matter, as many of Plaintiff Reese's allegedly undisputed facts have no support whatsoever other than reference to Requests for Admissions that the Henrietta Defendants could neither admit nor deny. For example, Plaintiff supported its assertion that the Henrietta Property was vacant (and thus allegedly could not have been used continuously by owners of the Henrietta Property) *only*

by citing to RFAs that the Henrietta Appellants did not admit. See Reese Statement of [Allegedly] Undisputed Facts ¶ 9 (claim of vacancy at the Henrietta Property supported only by citation to RFA answers 19 and 70, neither of which is an admission. See RFA Answers 19, 70 (A052-A059). Likewise, Plaintiff claims that it is undisputed that the Henrietta Property was vacant between 1998 and October 31, 2001, see Reese Statement of [Allegedly] Undisputed Facts ¶ 10 (A035), but the only support for this claim is a reference to the Henrietta Defendants' answers to RFAs 20 and 69, in which the Henrietta Appellants did not admit the truth of the alleged facts, see RFA Answers 20 and 69 (A052, A059). See also Reese Statement of [Allegedly] Undisputed Facts ¶ 11 (alleging as undisputed fact that the Henrietta Property was vacant following a transfer of the property to a new owner in October 2001, supported only by RFA Answer 23, which again was not admitted (A035). In total, Plaintiff Reese cited as support for allegedly undisputed facts <u>sixty-five</u> separate RFA answers in which the Henrietta Appellants did not admit the truth of the purported facts.

In opposing Plaintiff Reese's Summary Judgment Motion, the Henrietta Appellants identified a number of facts they claim were disputed. Opposition to Summary Judgment Motion at 5-6; (A337-A338). In particular, the Henrietta Appellants demonstrated that a fence between the properties had existed since before March 1999 until more than 15 years thereafter, and that the Disputed Area

was segregated from the Reese Property, and also demonstrated through its RFA answers that the Henrietta Appellants acknowledged use of the Disputed Area for parking throughout their property ownership. *Id.* (A337-A338) *See also* Henrietta Appellants' statement of undisputed facts precluding summary judgment at ¶ 1 (photographs demonstrated that the Disputed Area had been used for parking since at least March 1999) (A342); ¶ 4 (photographs demonstrating that a fence on the Disputed Area "closed off the disputed land from plaintiff's property for the benefit of defendants' property") (A342); ¶¶ 6-7 (a prior owner of the Henrietta property had constructed a concrete parking pad, wooden fence, and a masonry wall prior to 2009, demonstrating long-term use of the Disputed Area by Henrietta owners) (A343); ¶ 8 (a 2010 appraisal report of the Henrietta Property listed the property as containing for on-site parking spaces, indicating that the Henrietta Owners believed they owned the Disputed Area). The Henrietta Appellants also pointed out that Plaintiff Reese never challenged the use of the Disputed Area by the Henrietta owners from his purchase of the Reese Property in 1984 until 2020, a period of 36 years, and never demanded that the existing chain link fence or the later-installed wooden fence be removed. *Id.* ¶¶ 10-11. (A343).

5. The Trial Court Denies Summary Judgment. The trial court, reviewing the record, apparently did not review the voluminous evidence provided by the parties, but simply pointed out that the Henrietta Appellants had asserted

that from at least March 1999, prior owners of the Henrietta Property had fenced in the area in dispute with the chain-link fence for the exclusive use of the Henrietta Owners, and had further asserted that the chain-link fence continue to exist to the present. Order Denying Summary Judgment at 3. (A344). The trial court found that Plaintiff acknowledged the existence of the 1999 fence, but there was a dispute regarding whether it was a different fence. As a consequence, the trial court found that there was a factual dispute that was material and precluded summary judgment. *Id.* (A343)

6. Plaintiff Moves to "Alter or Amend" the Order Denying

Summary Judgment. Undeterred by the denial of summary judgment, Plaintiff Reese filed an unusual motion to alter or amend the trial court's order denying summary judgment under Rule 59(e) of the District of Columbia Rules of Civil Procedure, in the alternative seeking relief under Rule 60(b) of the D.C. Rules of Civil Procedure. Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend at 3-5. (A353-A355). Plaintiff Reese admitted, however, that in fact he was seeking "reconsideration" of the trial court's order denying summary judgment. *Id. at* 7. (A357.) In his Motion to Alter, Plaintiff Reese simply re-argued the points he had previously made in his Motion for Summary Judgment, but without adding any new evidence and without raising any new legal points. *Id.* (A357).

The Henrietta Appellants argued in opposition that Rule 59(e) applies only to altering or amending judgments, that the only element of Rule 60(b) that appeared to apply is Rule 60(b)(6), which provides relief from a court order for "any other reason," and that Plaintiff was simply re-litigating issues that had already been considered and rejected. Henrietta Appellants' Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend at 1. (A364). In summary, the Henrietta Appellants argued that Plaintiff Reese had failed to demonstrate the absence of any material factual issues, and that the trial court could only resolve the disputed issues raised by the evidence by resolving factual disputes. *Id.* at 4. (A367). The Henrietta Appellants also cited controlling authority that "where there is the slightest doubt as to the facts," summary judgment must be denied and the dispute must be submitted to the jury for resolution. Patrick v. Hardisty, 483 A.2d 692, 696 (D.C. 1984). *Id.* (A367). The dispute regarding the fence between the properties, as well as Mr. Reese's admission that he did not dispute the incursion of the Henrietta Owners for more than 36 years, were facts the Henrietta Defendants asserted created issues of fact that *still* precluded summary judgment, particularly as Plaintiff presented no new facts or evidence, but simply reiterated each and every point the trial court had already heard and rejected.

7. The Trial Court Reaches a New Decision on the Same Facts.
The trial court, which had previously found that disputed issues of material fact

precluded summary judgment, suddenly decided that it did not have "the slightest doubt" as to the facts. In its Order granting reconsideration and awarding summary judgment to Plaintiff Reese, the trial court simply ignored its prior analysis finding that disputed issues of material fact precluded summary judgment.

The trial court found that Plaintiff Reese's request for reconsideration under Rules 60(b) and Rule 59(e) was inappropriate, but rather than deny reconsideration, the trial court very helpfully directed Plaintiff to Rule 54(b), a source of relief Plaintiff had never mentioned or cited. Nevertheless, the trial court reviewed the Rule 54(b) standard, and argued that reconsideration was appropriate "and that harm or injustice would result if reconsideration were denied." Order Granting Reconsideration at 3, (A372). citing *United States ex rel. Westrick v*. Second Chance Body Armor, Inc., 893 F. Supp. 2d 258, 268 (D.D.C. 2012). The trial court warned, however, that motions for reconsideration "cannot be used as an opportunity to reargue facts and theories upon which a court has already ruled." Id. at 3, citing Ali v. Carnegie Institute of Washington, 309 F.R.D. 77, 81 (D.D.C. 2015). (A374). The trial court then ignored its warning, permitting Plaintiff Reese to re-argue the exact facts and law the trial court had already rejected.

On reconsideration, the trial court also disregarded the standard for summary judgment motions, finding that the Henrietta Appellants had "failed to produce enough admissible evidence to make a *prima facie* case in support of their claims

of adverse possession and prescriptive easement," and that the Henrietta Defendants "have not established a claim for adverse possession." *Id* at 4-6. (A375-A377). Of course, requiring the Henrietta Appellants to fully establish their claim for adverse possession, or even to establish a *prima facie* case, is a standard applicable only at trial, but wildly inappropriate on summary judgment, which must be withheld where there is "the slightest doubt" as to the facts. As a consequence, rather than leaving to a jury the question of whether the photographic evidence of a parking pad and a fence segregating the Disputed Area from the Reese Property from at least 1999 tended to establish elements of adverse possession, or whether Plaintiff's admitted acceptance of the Henrietta incursion without complaint for more than 35 years tended to demonstrate adverse possession, the trial court resolved these issues itself. In doing so, the trial court not only directly contradicted its prior finding that a disputed issue of material fact precluded summary judgment, but directly ignored this Court's guidance that court should "indulge a presumption [] that possession is adverse whenever there is open and continuous use of another's land for the statutory period, and this in this presumption is effective to establish title in the absence of evidence to the contrary." Smith v. Tippit, 569 A.2d 1186, 1189 (DC 1990).

Having done an about face and convinced itself that it had not "the slighted doubt" in supporting the positions it previously rejected on the same evidence and

law, the trial court deprived the Henrietta Defendants of a hearing before the trial court, or a trial before the jury, unilaterally granting judgment to Plaintiff. *Id*. (A374-A377).

8. The Henrietta Appellants Seek Reconsideration. Having been informed by the trial court's prior opinions that motions for reconsideration are appropriate for the presentation of newly discovered evidence, or because the original decision would lead to injustice, the Henrietta Appellants moved for reconsideration of the trial court's order granting summary judgment. Henrietta Motion for Reconsideration. (A382). In their motion, the Henrietta Appellants disclosed that their prior counsel had failed to inform them of Plaintiff Reese's motion for reconsideration, and that they were entirely unaware of Plaintiff's reconsideration of the motion until after the Court had granted summary judgment for Plaintiff Reese, and thus had had no opportunity to provide additional evidence. Id. at 5-7 (A386-A388).). A skeletal opposition filed by prior counsel without notice to or involvement of the Henrietta Appellants, was entirely non-substantive, consisting of less than three pages of discussion, but with no affidavits, testimony, substantiated evidence at all, and only several grainy photos of the **wrong** fence and the **wrong** property. *Id.* at 4-5 (A385-86) (citing testimony of Appellant Melissa Haupt). As such, the Henrietta Appellants, entirely unaware of the trial court's sudden about-face, had no opportunity to respond or to reply.

In moving for reconsideration, the Henrietta Appellants did not re-argue prior rejected facts and law as Plaintiff Reese had done. Instead, they gathered and presented to the trial court numerous sworn affidavits not only from the president of the Henrietta Condominium Association and each of the Association members, but also many entirely new third-party witnesses.

Thus, in addition to demonstrating the continuous and exclusive use of the Disputed Area during the time they lived at Henrietta Condominium, the Henrietta Appellants provided evidence indicating that the Henrietta owners had continuously and exclusively used (and made claim to ownership of) the Disputed Area for many decades. This testimony included, including a business neighbor across the street from the Henrietta Property who had for more than 15 years observed not only the physical integration of the Disputed Area into the Henrietta Property (and the physical separation by fences of the Disputed Area from the Reese Property), but also the continuous and exclusive use of the Disputed Area by the Henrietta Appellants and prior Henrietta owners. Motion for Reconsideration at 6-7, 15 (A387-88, A396) (citing testimony of business neighbor Michael Pickering).

The Henrietta Appellants also produced sworn affidavits by two prior nonparty Henrietta owners, each of whom testified under oath that they had used the Disputed Area continuously and exclusively by Henrietta owners four parking and storage, and believed the Disputed Area was part of the Henrietta Property. *Id.* at 5-6, 13-14 (A386-87, 394-95) (citing testimony of 2005-09 Henrietta owner Curtina Hoston, and 2009-10 Henrietta owner developer Alan Nash (*Id.* at 5-6, 15-16 (A338, A387-98). With the addition of this third-party testimony, the Henrietta Appellants fully demonstrated that for nearly thirty continuous years, successive owners of the Henrietta Property had used the Disputed Area for parking and storage, and had used the Disputed Area exclusively, and under a claim of right, with each owner testifying to their sincere belief that the Disputed Area was part of the Henrietta Property. *Id.* (A387).

This testimony was substantiated by a neighbor who was able to testify that the Disputed Area was segregated from the Reese Property continuously from 1969 to the present, was continuously occupied by Henrietta owners for parking or as a staging area for construction "since at least 2015," and that the Disputed Area "was part of the Henrietta property, particularly since it was always fenced off" from the other properties." *Id.* at 7 (A338) (citing testimony of neighbor Diane Schuler).

This new evidence was substantiated by a lifetime resident of the neighborhood, now in his late sixties, who testified that as a young boy he had played on the Reese Property, and had also played on a chain link fence that segregated the Disputed Area from the Reese Property and enclosed the Disputed

Area with the adjacent Henrietta Property. *Id.* at 7, 12-14 (A338, A393-95) (citing testimony of James "Jimmy" Lee). He further testified that the chain link fence he played on as a child had continuously separated the Disputed Area from the Reese Property for approximately <u>sixty continuous years</u>, and still remained in place, although somewhat worse for the wear, and testified that to his knowledge the Disputed Area had been used only and exclusively by Henrietta owners. *Id.*

9. The Court Disregards the Henrietta Appellants New Evidence.

Faced with new and compelling evidence that the Henrietta Appellants and their predecessor owners had used the Disputed area openly, exclusively, and under a claim of right for at least 30 years, including Plaintiff's concession that he permitted the incursion for more than 30 years, the Court if simply refused to consider any of the new evidence, or even to grant the Henrietta Defendants a hearing to address the new evidence. *See generally* Order Denying Reconsideration. (A400).

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