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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court properly reconsidered its original denial of summary judgment, when Reese/S2 filed a timely motion for reconsideration citing an error in the trial court's application of law to the facts.

2. On reconsideration, the trial court properly found that there is no dispute of material fact raised during the full briefing of the Reese motion for

summary judgment, the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration, or elsewhere in the record. The trial court properly found that the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration had demonstrated through affidavit and other evidence that its claims for relief were warranted, and that Henrietta Appellants' counterclaim must fail. Henrietta Appellants failed to bring forward any admissible evidence sufficient to establish a disputed material fact for trial.

3. Henrietta Appellants were not entitled to post-judgment relief on the basis of "new" evidence, nor did they demonstrate any outrageous action or violation of duty by their former attorney that would justify post-judgment submission of evidence that could have been brought forward earlier.

4. The Henrietta Appellants were not entitled to relief on their claim as a matter of law. Pursuant to the District of Columbia Condominium Act, D.C. Code §42-1901.01 et seq., a condominium comes into existence upon filing of a Declaration and By-Laws, which must include a plan "of every structure which is located on any portion of condominium land." D.C. Code § 42-1902.14(b). No easements can be added after formation of the condominium without recording of an amended plat. D.C. Code § 42-1902.14(e). The Henrietta Condominium Declaration filed in the land records does not include the Disputed Area as part of condominium common elements or units, nor does it show the parking pad, masonry wall or fences as located on the condominium land. It does not show

parking places as part of the condominium regime at all. Henrietta Appellants have not amended the declaration or plat. Therefore, Henrietta Appellants cannot claim that the Disputed Area is part of the condominium's property.

5. As it relates to the Cross-Appeal, S2 U Street relied on the public record and survey when it agreed to purchase the Subject Property under the January 2020 contract. Henrietta Appellants' subsequent counterclaim for adverse possession and continued trespass created a cloud on title to the Subject Property and caused damages to S2 U Street, as the contract beneficial owner. Henrietta's tortious conduct delayed purchase for over a year, required S2 U Street to obtain more expensive financing, and has caused S2 U Street to incur property taxes on land it cannot use and suffer loss of parking revenues as well as other damages and costs. S2 U Street was the prevailing party below and is entitled the damages that flow from Henrietta Appellants' tortiously conduct. The trial court erred in denying all the damages and costs as speculative without a hearing or specific findings.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Properly Entered Summary Judgment in Favor of S2 U Street

According to *Kibunja v. Alturas, LLC*, 856 A.2d 1120, 1127-28

(D.C. 2004):

The party moving for summary judgment bears the initial burden of identifying portions of the record that demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986); *Wash. Inv. Partners of Del., LLC v. Sec. House, KSCC*, 28 A.3d 566, 573 (D.C. 2011). Once the movant makes the requisite showing, the burden shifts to the non-movant party to present sufficient evidence to support a conclusion that a factual dispute exists, such that a judge or jury must resolve the conflicting assertions at a trial. *See Clay Props., Inc. v. Wash. Post Co.*, 604 A.2d 890, 893-94 (D.C. 1992). To survive a request for summary judgment, the non-movant “must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial,” and cannot rely upon conclusory statements in its pleadings. (emphasis added).

Specifically, when reconsidering a previously denied motion for summary judgment, the District of Columbia Court of Appeals has noted that:

Where the moving party supports the motion for summary judgment with affidavits, sworn or certified copies of documents, answers to interrogatories, deposition responses or other evidence submitted under oath, the opposing party may not rely on general pleadings or a denial, but rather must respond similarly by setting forth specific, material facts under oath which raise genuine issues of fact for trial.

Tobin v. John Grotta Co., 886 A.2d 87, 90 (D.C. 2005) (citing Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56 (e); *New 3145 Deauville, L.L.C. v. First Am. Title Ins. Co.*, 881 A.2d 624 (D.C. 2005); *Teru Chang v. Inst. for Public-Private P'ships, Inc.*, 846 A.2d 318, 323-324 (D.C. 2004)).

Although the court must view the record in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, *see Deutsch v. Barsky*, 795 A.2d 669, 673 (D.C. 2002), conclusory allegations alone are insufficient to avoid summary judgment. *See*

LaPrade v. Rosinsky, 882 A.2d 192, 196 (D.C. 2005). Indeed, the non-moving party must do more than assert “[t]he mere existence of a scintilla of evidence . . . there must be sufficient evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for the [non-moving party].” *Id.* (quoting *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 252 (1986)); *see also* Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56 (e).

The Reese motion for summary judgment was supported by a sworn affidavit based on personal knowledge and by deeds and documents from the land records of the District of Columbia. See generally, App. 19-332. In their opposition to the motion for summary judgment, Henrietta Appellants failed to submit evidence from anyone at all with personal knowledge of the Disputed Area as of 15 years earlier (the statutory period required for an adverse possession claim), even though the prior owners of the Henrietta property were known to them and named in the Reese motion. See generally App. 333-344.

Henrietta Appellants opposition to the motion for summary judgment was filed after discovery had closed. Henrietta Appellants’ responses to the Request for Admissions were attached as an exhibit to the motion for summary judgment, evidencing that Henrietta Appellants could not admit or deny Reese’s contentions. See generally App 47-167. Certainly, they produced no admissible evidence countering Reese’s sworn statements. Accordingly, there was no genuine issue of material fact to try and, therefore, Reese was entitled to summary judgment.

Nevertheless, the trial court denied the Reese motion for summary judgment, stating that there was a contested fact concerning whether the existing chain link fence had been in existence in 1999 and whether it had been built to claim the Disputed Area for the Henrietta property. App. 345-348.

In the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed by Reese (“Reese/S2 Motion”), App. 349-363, Reese argued that the court had committed an error of law denying the motion for summary judgment, an error warranting reconsideration under Rule 59(e), *see Household Finance Corp. III v. First American Title*, 669 A.2d 703 (D.C. 1995).

The trial court had initially used the wrong standard by which to judge the Reese motion for summary judgment. The standard that the trial court had actually applied was appropriate with respect to a motion to dismiss, where the court is obliged to take the facts alleged in the complaint as true. *Casco Marina Development, L.L.C. v. D.C. Redevelopment Land Agency*, 834 A.2d 77, 81 (D.C. 2003). That standard is not applicable to a motion for summary judgment that followed the completion of discovery and included a sworn affidavit based on personal knowledge sufficient to prove the claims and establish that there is no material fact in genuine dispute.

The Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration pointed out that in order to defeat a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party must present *affirmative*

evidence sufficient to demonstrate the existence of a material fact as to which there is a genuine issue for trial. *See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 248-50 (1986). The non-moving party must do more than assert “[t]he mere existence of a scintilla of evidence... there must be sufficient evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for the [non-moving party].” *Id.* at 252 (emphasis added).

The Henrietta Appellants provided no evidence to support a conclusion that a factual dispute exists. Indeed, Henrietta Appellants failed to identify any admissible evidence whatsoever in the record demonstrating a genuine issue of material fact, relying instead on conclusory allegations about a prior existing fence. In their brief on appeal, Henrietta Appellants complain, inter alia, that the Reese motion for summary judgment cites Henrietta Appellants’ numerous responses to Requests for Admission, which state that they “Cannot admit or Deny” the request. Henrietta Appellants argue that these responses were erroneously cited to the trial court as supporting undisputed statements of fact in the Reese/S2 U Street motion for reconsideration. Henrietta Appellants Br. at 8, 28. The argument is misplaced. The references to the responses to the Requests for Admission merely highlight the fact that the Henrietta Appellants admittedly had *no evidence* to counter the sworn statements and evidence put forward in the Reese motion for summary judgment.

Rather, the record before the trial court was that Reese's sworn affidavit was sufficient to defeat Henrietta Appellants' claim of adverse possession, and in response the Henrietta Appellants merely stated that the "cannot admit or deny" Reese's evidence. Henrietta Appellants' inability to admit or deny the evidence does not create a genuine disputed material fact for trial. Accordingly, reconsideration of the March 16, 2021 Order was warranted and Reese/S2 U Street was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

II. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Denying Henrietta Appellants' Motion

The Henrietta Appellants filed for reconsideration of the court's order granting the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration and summary judgment, App. 382-399, claiming that: (1) Henrietta Appellants had not been informed by their attorney that a motion for reconsideration had been filed, and that (2) Henrietta Appellants had discovered "new evidence" sufficient to demonstrate continuous and exclusive use of the Disputed Area for more than the statutory time required, and, thus, raising a material fact sufficient to require a trial.

The first of these contentions is untrue based on the documents the Henrietta Appellants submitted with their motion. The second contention is based on a faulty interpretation of "new evidence" and is, therefore, unavailing to their cause, as more fully discussed below.

A. The Henrietta Appellants Were Aware of the Filing of the S2 Motion Prior to the Award of Summary Judgment.

In their brief, the Henrietta Appellants stress repeatedly that they did not know about the filing of the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration until *after* summary judgment was granted. See Henreitta Appellants' Br. 2, 4, 15, 19, 31. This contention, however, is belied by the affidavits submitted with the Henrietta Appellants' motion for reconsideration. See Supp. App. 5-8.

Of the five individual appellants, four submitted affidavits with the motion for reconsideration. See Supp. App. 1-8. Nancy T. Montoya did not submit an affidavit. Belkines Arenas Gemosen, Supp. App. 3-4, and Pamela and Victoria Flattau, Supp. App. 1-2, say nothing in their affidavits about whether or not they knew of the filing of the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration. Only Haupt mentions the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration, claiming that she and the others did not know of the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration until May 6th the date on which she spoke to counsel and learned of the filing. Supp. App. 5-8.

The order granting the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration and summary judgment, however, was only entered on May 12th, see Docket #53, App. 11 – six days after Haupt purports to have learned of the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration. Thus, there was sufficient time to supplement the Henrietta opposition to the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration or move the court for more time to supplement or correct the opposition. Haupt's affidavit does not state that

she gave any instructions to her counsel to do so. Her statement about the lack of prior knowledge of others is, on its face, mere hearsay, and in any event, the Flattaus, and Germosen have spoken for themselves in their own affidavits but are silent on the subject. In short, there is no evidence whatsoever to support the repeated claims of Henrietta Appellants' counsel that his clients were unaware of the filing of the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration until after summary judgment was entered. To the contrary, Haupt knew no later than May 6th, and all other appellants are silent on the issue.

The gravamen of the Henrietta Appellants' entire appeal is, consequently, based on a false assertion that they were unable to produce any evidence to defeat the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration because they did not know of it. The trial court was correct in concluding that the Henrietta Appellants motion for reconsideration was "nothing more than an attempt to present evidence that could have been advanced earlier disguised as dissatisfaction with former counsel." App. 400-406.

B. Reconsideration was Not Warranted under S.C.R. 59(e), 60(b), and 54(b)

(1) Super. Ct. Civ. R. 59(e) Does Not Apply

In their Motion to Alter or Amend Order Granting Summary Judgment, Henrietta Appellants did not argue that the trial judge had made an error of law. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 59(e) provides relief in the case of an error of law. In *Wallace*

482 A.2d at 804, the court explains the difference between Rules 59(e) and 60(b) in terms of “whether for the first time, the movant requests consideration of additional circumstances.” If so, the motion must be filed under Rule 60(b).

In this case, Henrietta Appellants, for the first time, brought forward allegedly “new” evidence in their Motion to Alter or Amend Order Granting Summary Judgment and sought reconsideration on the basis of the “new” evidence. Accordingly, Rule 59(e) was not applicable to their motion, as it does not permit alteration of the judgment or order because of an improper factual basis. *Id.*

2. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 60(b) Is Not a Proper Basis for the Relief Requested by Henrietta Appellants

(i) Prior Counsel Did Not Act Outrageously or Disregard Instructions

Rule 60(b) provides that “the court may relieve a party or its legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding” for a list of six enumerated reasons. Henrietta Appellants argued below that they sought relief pursuant to the sixth and final basis, namely “any other reason that justifies relief.” App. 382-399. Their “other reason” was that their prior attorney had not informed her clients of the Reese/S2 motion for reconsideration and, therefore, they had been denied the opportunity to present their evidence in opposition. As stated

above, this “other reason,” is contradicted by the record and, thus, was a false premise upon which to base their request for reconsideration.

In any event, any acts or omissions of counsel are generally imputed to the client even though they may be detrimental to the client’s cause. An exception exists where the conduct of counsel is outrageously in violation of express instructions or the attorney’s action violates her implied duty to devote reasonable efforts in representing the client. *Clark v. Moler*, 418 A2d 1039, 1043 (D.C. 1980). There is no evidence that prior counsel for the Henrietta Appellants committed any such outrageous conduct or violated her duty to the client. Certainly the affidavits submitted with the Henrietta Appellants motion for reconsideration do not support such a conclusion.

Henrietta Appellants claim of impropriety on the part of their prior counsel fails to take into account that each of the Henrietta Appellants participated in discovery, individually and collectively, by responding to Requests for Admissions, Request for Production of Documents, and Interrogatories. See Docket entries of 9-15-20 (#11), 10-9-20 (#16) and 1-8-21 (#22), App. 5-7 and App. 47-167. Their evidence could have been presented in response to the Reese motion for summary judgment (about which they admittedly knew), but it was not. Henrietta Appellants were not dissatisfied with their attorney’s performance in

opposing the Reese motion for summary judgment and do not now complain of her performance in that regard.

Rather, it was not until nearly a month after the order granting summary judgment in favor of S2 U Street that Henrietta Appellants sought to introduce “new” evidence, including affidavits from themselves and others signed only 24-48 hours prior to filing of the motion with no explanation of why the evidence could not have been ascertained earlier.

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